Fault Detection, Localization, Isolation and Restoration in Microgrid through Intelligent Relays



By Muhammad Anwar ul Haq

> 00000274686 Session 2018-2020

> > Supervisor

Dr. Sehar Shakir

U.S. Pakistan Center for Advanced Studies in Energy (USPCAS-E), National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST) Islamabad, Pakistan

January 2022

Fault Detection, Localization, Isolation and Restoration in Microgrid through Intelligent Relays



By Muhammad Anwar ul Haq

00000274686 Session 2018-2020

Supervisor

Assistant Prof. Dr. Sehar Shakir

A thesis submitted to the US-Pakistan Center for Advanced Studies in Energy in partial fulfillment of the requirements

> for the degree of *Master of Science* in Energy Systems Engineering (MS ESE)

U.S. Pakistan Center for Advanced Studies in Energy, National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST) Islamabad 44000, Pakistan January 2022

Thesis Acceptance Certificate

Certified that final copy of MS thesis written by Mr. Muhammad Anwar ul Haq, (Registration No. 00000274686), of US-Pakistan Center for Advanced Studies in Energy (USPCAS-E), NUST has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statues/Regulations, is within the similarity indices limit and is accepted as partial fulfillment for the award of MS degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature: $_$	
Name of Supervisor:	Dr. Sehar Shakir
Date: _	
Signature (HoD ESE): $_$	
Date: _	
Signature (Principal/Dean): _	
Date: _	

Certificate

This is to certify that work in this thesis has been carried out by Mr. Muhammad Anwar ul Haq and completed under my supervision in US-Pakistan Center for Advanced Studies in Energy (USPCAS-E), National University of Sciences and Technology, H-12, Islamabad, Pakistan.

Name of Supervisor:

GEC member 1:

GEC member 2:

GEC member 3:

HOD-ESE:

Principal:

Dr. Sehar Shakir USPCAS-E NUST, Islamabad

Dr. Basit Ali Bukhari USPCAS-E NUST, Islamabad

> Dr. Mustafa Anwar USPCAS-E NUST, Islamabad

Dr. Syed Ali Abbas Kazmi USPCAS-E NUST, Islamabad

> Dr. Rabia Liaquat USPCAS-E NUST, Islamabad

Dr. Adeel Waqas USPCAS-E NUST, Islamabad

Dedication

This Research work is dedicated to my beloved late grandmother who has been my financial support during my studies. This work is also dedicated to my family who has loved me unconditionally and invigorated me for hard work. So that I can achieve things that I aspire to accomplish. I would like to dedicate my thesis to my friends who has encouraged me and has been a constant source of support during the MS Degree program.

Acknowledgement

It brings me great joy to honor the Creator of the universe, Allah Almighty, the most merciful, compassionate, and beneficent to His creatures, who has provided me with the knowledge and capability to organize my research work. Countless people pray for his holy prophet Muhammad (PBUH), who will always be a light of guidance and knowledge for all of humanity.

I am thankful to the HOD ESE, Department of USPCASE, for the provision of all possible facilities and full cooperation. Special indebtedness to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Saher and Co-Supervisor Dr. Basit Bhukhari, who was very affectionate and cooperative during this research work and all other times.

A word of gratitude to my entire group fellows Anique, Haseeb, Maria, and Sana provided me with a wonderful companionship that I will never forget. Special thanks to Sana, who supported me in my studies throughout my Master's degree.

I'd also like to thank my parents, my partner, and siblings for their unwavering support throughout my career; without their affection, it may have been impossible to achieve this goal.

Abstract

Micro-grids have encountered several challenges over time from a control and protection perspective. One of the main issues which is faced related to the protection of micro-grids while integrating Distributed Generations (DGs) is to develop a suitable protection technique that can be effective both in grid-connected and stand-alone operation modes. Our traditional protection and control techniques are not well-equipped to address these pertinent issues. Conventional overcurrent protection schemes face selectivity and sensitivity issues during grid and microgrid faults since the fault current level is different in both cases for the same relay. Adaptive protection is required to change the relay settings according to the current microgrid configuration. The topic of this thesis is "Fault Detection, Localization, Isolation, and Restoration in Microgrid through Intelligent Relays". As microgrids are dynamic in nature, their parametric values change every second. To handle such dynamic systems, a robust protection technique is presented in this thesis. For fast fault detection and to avoid mal-operation, a sequence component-based approach is suggested. Moreover, determining accurate location, Isolation, and restoration by using an intelligent relay system is also part of this research work. The positive and negative sequence components are extracted from local and remote ends to analyze the system parameters. A sequence components-based algorithm is developed to detect, locate and isolate the fault in the Microgrid system. Also, this system protects and controls radial as well as looped micro-grids against different types of faults with the capability of single-phase tripping.

Keywords: Fault detection; Fault localization; Fault classification; Internal fault detection; Sequence component analysis

Contents

	Abs	tract	v
	\mathbf{List}	of Figures	x
	\mathbf{List}	of Tables	xi
	\mathbf{List}	of Abbreviations	xii
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Energy in global context	1
	1.2	Impact of Fossil fuel on climate	2
	1.3	Need a policy shift	2
	1.4	Integration of DERs and its challenges	3
	1.5	Issues associated with conventional system	4
	1.6	Microgrid	5
	1.7	Problem Statement	5
	Sum	mary	7
	Refe	erences	7
2	Lite	rature Review	9
	2.1	Model-based methods	11
		2.1.1 Adaptive based	11
		2.1.2 Centralized based/Decentralized based Scheme	12

		2.1.3	Differential based	12
		2.1.4	External Device Based	13
		2.1.5	Agent-Based	13
		2.1.6	Local variable based	14
		2.1.7	Traveling wave-based	14
		2.1.8	Transformation Based	14
	2.2	Data-l	Driven based methods	14
		2.2.1	Decision tree-based	15
		2.2.2	ANN-based	15
		2.2.3	Fuzzy Based	16
	2.3	Fault	Location	16
		2.3.1	Impedance based approach	19
		2.3.2	Single terminal impedance method	19
		2.3.3	Double terminal impedance method	21
		2.3.4	Traveling wave-based approach	23
	2.4	Knowl	ledge-based approach for fault localization	26
		2.4.1	Artificial intelligence (AI) based Fault location $\ldots \ldots$	26
		2.4.2	Distributed devices-based fault location Method	28
		2.4.3	Hybrid Methods	28
	2.5	Propo	sed Scheme	30
	2.6	Contri	ibution of Proposed Scheme	30
	Sum	mary		32
	Refe	erences		32
3	Met	hodolog	3 y	39
	3.1	Fault	Identification	40

Contents

	3.2	Fault 1	location algorithm	43
	3.3	Propos	sed Microgrid Test Model	43
		3.3.1	Fault Detection in Microgrid	47
		3.3.2	Fault localization in Microgrid	47
	Sum	mary		48
	Refe	rences		48
4	Res	ults and	l Discussion	51
	4.1	Fault .	Analysis	51
		4.1.1	External Fault	52
		4.1.2	Internal Fault	53
		4.1.3	Single Line to Ground Fault	54
		4.1.4	Phase to Phase fault and Double line to ground fault $\ . \ .$	54
		4.1.5	Triple line to ground fault	54
	4.2	Fault	Classification	55
	Sum	mary		59
	Refe	erences		59
5	Con	clusions	and Future Work	61
	5.1	Conclu	sions	61
	5.2	Future	Work	62
	Арр	endix A	A- Publication	63

List of Figures

2.1	Basic flowchart of impedance based method	20
2.2	Single line diagram of three-phase circuit with fault at phase A	
	and one ended source for distribution line $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	20
2.3	Single line diagram of three-phase circuit with fault at phase A	
	and two ended MF source for distribution line	22
2.4	Negative sequence network [5]	22
2.5	Single line diagram of three-phase circuit when travelling waves	
	propagate towards source terminals when fault occurs on any of	
	the three phase	24
2.6	Basic flowchart of travelling wave based technique	25
2.7	Basic flowchart of Knowledge based method	27
2.8	Flowchart of Distributed devices based fault location method	29
2.9	Generalized Framework of Proposed Microgrid Protection scheme	31
3.1	External and Internal Fault in Microgrid	42
3.2	Standard International Electro Technical Comission IEC Micro-	
	grid Test Model	44
3.3	Measured three phase voltages at all six buses for no fault Condi-	
	tion	45
3.4	Measured three phase Current at all six buses for no fault condition	46
4.1	Current Signal in case of fault at phase A	52

LIST OF FIGURES

4.2	Voltage Signal in case of fault at phase A	52
4.3	FI Value for External Fault	53
4.4	FI value for internal fault	53
4.5	FI value for Single Line to Ground fault	54
4.6	FI for Line-to-Line fault	55
4.7	FI for Double line to ground fault	55
4.8	FI for Triple line fault	56
4.9	FI for triple line to ground fault	56
4.10	Fault Classification for Phase A fault	58
4.11	Fault Classification for Line-to-Line fault	58
4.12	Fault Classification for triple line fault	58

List of Tables

2.1	Microgrid Protection Issues	10
2.2	Microgrid Protection Challanges	10
2.3	Microgrid Protection Solutions	11

List of Abbreviations

MG	Microgrid
DT	Decision Tress
KNN	K – Nearest Neighbors
DWT	Discrete Wavelet Transform
AC	Alternating Current
DC	Direct Current
MRA	Multi – Resolution Analysis
ANN	Artificial Neural Networks
CNN	Convolutional Neural Networks
SNR	Signal to Noise Ratio
IEEE	Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
DER	Distributed Energy Resource
FFT	Fast Fourier Transform
STFT	Short Time Fourier Transform
CWT	Continuous Wavelet Transform
СНР	Combined Heat and Power
COE	Cost of Energy
CO2	Carbon Dioxide
CPUC	California Public Utility Commission
DG	Distributed Generation
FERC	Federal Energy Reliability Corporation
GHG	Greenhouse Gases
HOMER	Hybrid Optimization of Multiple Energy Resources
IOU	Investor-Owned Utility
kV	Kilo-Volts
$\mathbf{M}\mathbf{W}$	Mega–Watt
NREL	National Renewable Energy Laboratory

LIST OF TABLES

O&M	Operation and Maintenance
PV	Photo-voltaic
SCADA	Supervisory, Control and Data Acquisition
STP	Standard Temperature Pressure
T&D	Transmission and Distribution
WECS	Wind Energy Conversion Systems
AI	Artificial Intelligence
AMR	Anisotropic Magneto-Resistive
CML	Customer Minute Lost
GMR	Giant Magneto-Resistive
MF	Magnetic Field
MR	Magneto-Resistive
TMR	Tunneling Magneto-Resistive
MV	Medium Voltage
OFGEM	Office of Gas and Electricity Markets
SAIDI	System Average Interruption Duration Index
SAIFI	System Average Interruption Frequency
SC	Short Circuit
TDR	Time Domain Reflectrometry

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Energy in global context

It has become impossible to create a balance between energy demand and population growth due to the incessant rise in the world's population. The energy resources are diminishing, and energy demand is exponentially rising due to unprecedented population growth. Urbanization and industrialization have caused a most important drift in energy intake, and it has become challenging to maintain the energy system. The majority of the population lives in urban areas, and the numbers are expected to rise in near future [1]. Energy consumption and demand are increasing day by day while conventional energy sources are diminishing. The worldwide population growth and economic activities have severed impacts on energy demand. The world is majorly dependent on conventional sources i.e., fossil fuels and it will remain the same unless some major changes are made. Globally, fossil fuel consumption is increasing, and it has become very hard to find a new reservoir of fossil fuels. Newly discovered reservoirs are significantly smaller in size than ones that were discovered in the past. Currently, every year we are consuming over 11 billion tons of oil from fossil fuels. On the contrary, crude oil reserves are waning at the rate of 4 billion tons per year. It means our known reserves could run out in just 53 years if we carry on as we are today. Our gas deposits can give us only 52 years if we increase the gas production to fill the energy gap left by the oil. Though we have enough coal reserves, yet they are not sufficient to cope up with the increasing energy demand due to unprecedented population rise, and depleting oil and gas deposits. Our established coal deposits could run out in 150 years if we use coal to make up for depleted oil and gas reserves [2].

1.2 Impact of Fossil fuel on climate

Fossil fuels are adversely affecting climate change and unleashing global warming. The emission of CO2 from fossil fuels stays in the atmosphere which leads to a rise in global temperature. We emit nearly 750 billion tons of carbon if the world burns all known reserves of coal without carbon capture or storage technology. If we want to meet our climate change goals, we must leave two-third of fossil fuels under the ground. Already 1°C temperature has raised. If the temperature rises above 1.5 °C, the sea level will increase. The unchecked emission of greenhouse gases resulted in extreme weather, species extinction, and biodiversity loss, and food scarcity, deteriorating health, and poverty for millions of people. According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), emissions from fossil fuels are the dominant cause of global warming, 89% of CO2 emissions came from fossil fuels and industry. In fossil fuel, coal is the filthiest fuel as 0.3 °C of the 1 °C increase in global temperature is due to coal, making coal the single largest source of global temperature rise. Oil is another important driver of triggering climate change while oil spills are ravaging our ecosystem [3]. Natural gas is considered a clean energy source as compared to oil and coal but still, it emits carbon into the atmosphere.

1.3 Need a policy shift

In order to address the depleting fossil fuel sources and environmental and ever-growing population issues, we need to revise our policies. We need a policy shift to mitigate climate change and global warming. These goals can only be achieved if we utilize maximum renewable energy resources for power generation. The power generation from renewable energy will reduce global warming by replacing carbon-intensive energy sources. Renewable energy is clean energy

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

derived from natural resources or comes from continually replenished resources. The major types of renewable energy sources are solar energy, biomass, wind, hydropower, and geothermal. The biomass comes from wood and wood waste, Landfill gas and biogas, ethanol, biodiesel, and municipal solid waste. The usage of these renewable energy resources will reduce fossil fuel consumption which will ultimately reduce greenhouse gases emission [4]. All renewable energy sources are not 100% environmentally friendly as large hydropower dams and biomass impact the wildlife, climate, etc. Like biomass and dams, solar technology has its limitation as in the manufacturing of solar plate emission of carbon take place which is not environmental friendly. Wind energy is the cleanest and sustainable renewable source, but it is expensive, and technology is immature. The birds and bats killing due to the collision with wind turbines and disruption of habitats are the drawbacks of wind energy sources. Land required for the installation of a wind plant is also a hindrance and we need to optimize this technology so that minimum land should be used to install wind plants. Wind plants also have impacts on recreational activities, oil extraction, gravel extraction, aquaculture, and navigation. Even 100% renewable energy is not enough to cope up with the emerging environmental challenges, but renewable energy emits fewer greenhouse gases as compared to fossil fuel [5]. Renewable energy is more environmentally friendly as compared to conventional energy sources.

1.4 Integration of DERs and its challenges

Integration of renewable energy sources has been a dire challenge. Renewable energy sources are highly intermittent. Solar can work only in daylight and need a storage system for the night. The wind is highly unpredictable; it needs a 90backup system whereas for other forms of power generation around 25% backup system is required. The integration of renewable energy sources is not possible in our conventional grid because it faces selectivity and sensitivity issues. The conventional grid is not well equipped to address the protection issues which it faces due to the integration of renewable energy. Energy integration means the method of developing efficient ways to transfer the variable power from renewable energy sources to the grid. Integration should be cost-effective, and it should be reliable and stable [4]. To address the integration issue, we need to understand the conventional grid and the challenges which it faces during the integration of renewable energy.

1.5 Issues associated with conventional system

The top-down grid is outdated because of protection issues. In order to integrate renewable energy, we need bottom-up redesigned grids. The centralized, top-down power grid is outdated. It is a time for a bottom-up redesign, due to climate chaos blackouts are on the rise and the situation is getting worse. In the conventional system, power is generated at large power plants and transmitted through long high voltage transmission lines. The power is dumped at different points from the high voltage transmission line to the distribution system via substation. At substation transformers, the voltage is low so that it does not damage the appliances at the consumer end [6]. Distribution wires carry power from the transmission distribution interfaces in various directions. The voltage is then lowered again by the transformer which is mounted on the power poles. The distribution wire then feeds electricity to the end-users through a meter which is used to measure consumption. In a conventional system, power flows are only in one direction. Conventional grids are like the river, as it flows in only one direction. Renewable energy integration is shaking our traditional grid system. It becomes complicated to manage the grid as solar and wind are highly intermittent. When the sun comes up, tons of power flow from solar panels, but during the night, a backup system or storage system is needed to supply power [7]. Our traditional grids cannot manage such a complicated system. High penetration of renewable energy is causing challenges and increasing the complexity to meet supply demand in real-time. Distribution energy sources (DER) give consumers access to the energy market due to which DERs are increasing in the energy market, but the conventional grid is not ready to cope up with the above-mentioned challenges. To address these issues, we need to modify our traditional system or need a new system to cope up with the above-mentioned challenges.

1.6 Microgrid

To integrate DERs into the grid, we use new and advanced technology. A microgrid is a single governable entity interconnected with different loads and DERs with clearly defined boundaries. It can operate with the gird and can be disconnected in case of islanding. The microgrid also provides backup in case of emergencies, and it helps to cut the cost. It provides power to remote areas and promotes local generation due to this transmission line length required for power supply reduce which ultimately decreases line losses. Microgrids make consumers independent and allow them to control the energy market. It encourages clean energy, provides low cost, and gives efficient energy. It improves the stability, operation, and reliability of the regional grid. The essential infrastructure of the micro grid increases the reliability and resilience of the system and supplies power to critical loads like hospitals and defense units [7]. Microgrid encourages renewable sources and reduces fuel consumption which ultimately reduces the carbon footprint.

1.7 Problem Statement

Electricity is the basic need of life and its demand is exponentially increasing due to the population explosion and extra use of digital services. To meet the energy demand we need to generate extra power. On the other hand, conventional energy sources are shrinking. To maintain a balance between power generation and consumption, renewable energy sources are needed for extra energy generation. Integration of DERs is challenging and it possesses protection issues. Microgrid has many advantages as mentioned above and it is used for energy integration. Despite all these advantages, microgrid faces significant implementation challenges. The integration of DERs in the grid triggered certain issues. Our traditional system is not ready to integrate renewable energy sources as it faces protection challenges. Integration of DERs in the microgrid has created some serious issues. One of the fundamental reasons for these issues is intermittent energy sources. Uneven DERs cause protection challenges in the

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

microgrid. The proper protection of the microgrid is the last hindrance in the implementation of the microgrid. When we integrate renewable sources, the grid faces selectivity and sensitivity challenges. Fault diagnosis becomes challenging due to the critical microgrid infrastructure. Fault localization in a ring system is crucial because of bidirectional power flow. To address the above-mentioned challenges this thesis proposed a novel sequence component-based technique for fault localization and fault diagnosis. Now the primary focus of this thesis is to develop an intelligent protection system for microgrids that will be effective in both grid-connected and islanding mode. This intelligent system will diagnose the fault and its location. Moreover, it will classify the fault type and isolate the faulty part in the minimum possible time to avoid further damage and will continue to supply power to the critical load without any interruptions.

Summary

The growing energy demand around the world and global warming urge us to explore new clean energy sources as an alternative to conventional energy sources to address the environmental issue. Climate change has helped to create awareness against clean energy sources. The demand for traditional energy sources drastically decreased. Renewable energy sources are being encouraged by the government and industries to mitigate climate change. The Microgrid Energy management system is becoming an emerging research topic with the evolving smart grid technology. Energy demand with increasing population in a global context is discussed. The impact of fossil fuels on climate change is briefly analyzed. To address global warming and population issues we need a policy shift. We must have to shift to renewable energy sources if we want to save this planet. Integration of distributed energy sources and challenges associated with it were deeply investigated. Further top-down and bottom-up grid technologies are examined, and their advantages and disadvantages are discussed. A brief introduction of microgrids and related problems were discussed. the challenges to implementing the microgrid technology are briefly analyzed. Microgrid technology is elaborated, and its advantages and disadvantages are discussed. The thesis addresses the main challenges faced by the microgrid in its implementation. A new microgrid protection strategy is developed to address the implementation issues of Microgrid technology.

References

- H. Zlotnik, "World urbanization: trends and prospects, in new forms of urbanization," *Routledge*, pp. 43–64, 2017.
- H. Lund, "Renewable energy strategies for sustainable development," *Energy*, vol. 32, pp. 912–919, 2007.
- [3] J. Goldemberg, Energy for a sustainable world. Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 1987.
- [4] V. Mehdi Ahmadi Jirdehi, "Different aspects of microgrid management: A comprehensive review," *Journal of Energy Storage*, vol. 27, 2020-04.
- [5] A. Lagrange and M. Siman-Martan, "Sustainable microgrids with energy storage as a means to increase power resilience in critical facilities: An application to a hospital," *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, vol. 119, p. 105865, 2020.
- [6] B. Brearley and R. Prabu, "A review on issues and approaches for microgrid protection," *Renewable Sustainable Energy Rev*, vol. 67, pp. 988–997, 2017.
- [7] A. Hirsch, Y. Parag, and J. Guerrero, "Microgrids: A review of technologies, key drivers, and outstanding issues renewable and sustainable energy reviews," vol. 90, pp. 402–411, 2018.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

The electrical fault is the abnormal behavior of the electrical circuit, and it occurs due to imperfection of the circuit due to which current deviate from the intended path and flow in an uncontrolled manner. A power system fault is an abnormal condition that damages electrical equipment and disrupts power flow. The fault is caused in the system due to a variety of reasons. The probability of occurring faults in Microgrids is more because they are broadly branched, operate under variable load conditions, and have variable and intermittent Distributed generation sources. Insulation failure between the conductors can cause a power system fault. Excessive short circuit current can cause heavy fire and explosion which severely damage the distribution network. Insulator failures occur due to abnormal voltage and sometimes even at normal voltage due to aging or decline of the insulation. The fault occurred sometimes due to unpredictable incidents like thunderstorms, tree limbs, vehicles colliding with the transmission poles, birds shorting out the lines. Some faults occur due to flashover and mechanical failure in the switchgear. The deregulation in the energy system in the 1980's motivated power utilities to ensure reliability and power quality in the distribution network of electricity [1]. The power system has been disrupted by various types of faults, which have harmed the proper distribution of power. In a distribution system, short circuit currents are very common and almost 40% of faults occur due to short circuit currents. These faults affect the lifetime of insulation and degrade the reliability of the power system. These issues can be addressed by accelerating

the restoration and fast fault recovery [2]. The stability of the system and power system apparatus gets affected due to the SC current. Sometimes complete shutdown happened due to excessive SC current. SC cause overheating and aberrant mechanical forces which damage the power system [3]. According to a report by the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets (OFGEM) in the United Kingdom, approximately 75% of faults occurred in the distribution system, making it more vulnerable [4]. The integration of DG sources makes the distribution system more complex and makes fault detection challenging. To restore the system fault fast fault detection is pivotal. Because the fault current varies, fault detection is difficult. In grid-connected mode, the current will be high in the event of a fault, causing overcurrent relays to trip the system, whereas in islanding mode, the current will be low and relays will not trip. To avoid blinding, an intelligent fault detection technique is needed. In microgrid system bidirectional current flows which make complicated to analyze the fault as fault detection schemes used for the radial system do not work for microgrid system. Due to complicated system fault at one feeder many causes tripping of the healthy feeder. Unintentional islanding can also make fault diagnosis difficult. To address these issues, an advanced and intelligent fault detection system is required [5].

	Table 2.1: Microgrid Protection Issues
Issues	• Bidirectional power flow. Grid connected and blending
	mode
	• Change in the magnitude and direction of fault current
	• Dynamic topology

	Table 2.2: Microgrid Protection Challanges
Challanges	• Fault current level variation
	• Standardrization
	• Grid code compliance
	• Choosing of Appropriate Transformer configuration
	• Auto recloser
	• Reduction in reach of distance relay
	• Blinding Protection and Sympatric tripping
	• Relay interoperability

	Table 2.3: Microgrid Protection Solutions
Solutions	• Fault Current Limiter (FLC)
	• Virtual Impedance
	• Islanding detection Algorithm (Adaptive, Passive, Hybrid)
	• Proper Standarization
	• Fault Detection Algorithm
	Adaptive Protection
	• Intelligent self Healing Schemes
	• Compatibility and interoperability Test
	• AI Based Methods

The various fault detection methods can be classified into two categories: a model-based and a data-driven method.

2.1 Model-based methods

Depending upon the fault detection techniques the model-based methods are classified. Model-based methods guarantee that assessed parameters are coherent and match the model. To detect fault different techniques are used which are as followed:

- 1. Adaptive based technique
- 2. Centralized based/Decentralized based Scheme
- 3. Differential based scheme
- 4. External Device-based
- 5. Agent-based technique
- 6. Local Variable based
- 7. Traveling wave-based
- 8. Transformation based

2.1.1 Adaptive based

An adaptive system is used to update the system and locate the fault in microgrid system configuration changes by comparing the updated data using the cycle-cycle comparison method. Current and voltage signals are acquired at the relay location using current and potential transformers and compared to diagnose the system fault. There is some limitation linked with adaptive method implementation.

- As the mode of operations changes in MG readjustment in the protection relay setting is needed.
- As the topology changes it gets problematic to calculate the power flows and short circuit
- The communication system, which is costly and complicated, is required for revising system preferences and surveilling purposes.
- Prior knowledge of all MG is required.

2.1.2 Centralized based/Decentralized based Scheme

To detect a fault in the system, both centralized and decentralized base schemes are used. Determining a better protection approach between centralized and decentralized is a difficult task. The centralized method is more reliable and accurate, but there is a significant communication and computation time delay. The decentralized technique, on the other hand, provides a quick response but has the disadvantage of being less reliable and accurate.

2.1.3 Differential based

For fault detection, a differential-based approach examines data from both the local and remote ends. A differential-based scheme has been proposed in [6] for computing the difference on the transformed contours' spectral energy content on both the local and remote sides of the feeder by comparing two-time frequency transformations, S-Transform, and Hilbert Transform.

The main complication associated with differential-based schemes is as followed.

• In case of a communication failure, backup protection is required for MG, which makes the system complicated

- The combination infra-structure is needed which increases the cost of the system.
- The integration of DG or disconnection of DG is challenging. The connection and disconnection of DG can generate transients and load unbalanced.

2.1.4 External Device Based

In the traditional system, conventional protection relays were used but technology evolved and microprocessor-based relays replaced the conventional protection relay. Microprocessor-based technology has progressed to the point where it can now be considered an intelligent electronic device. There are some limits linked with external device-based protection.

- Externally installed devices necessitate a massive investment.
- The widespread use of renewable energy sources has the potential to cause issues.

2.1.5 Agent-Based

The scheme calculates the phase angle through the Phasor measurement unit. Clarks' transformation, over-current, and phase differential-based protection schemes are three versions of agent-based schemes. To achieve high reliability and accuracy, the version and protection scheme were changed. The Agent-based method has its limitation:

- This scheme requires communication between agents that adds to the cost.
- , In the long run, it's difficult to accurately predict agent activity and communication.
- To avoid undesirable conditions and misinterpretation, coordination is required.

2.1.6 Local variable based

To protect the system and detect the fault, the proposed scheme uses local variable current, voltage, and derivatives. There are some drawbacks to using local variables.

- Malfunctioning can cause changes in local variables.
- The proposed scheme is contingent on MG's configuration.
- The time it takes to detect a fault is dependent on the type of fault and the variable magnitude of the fault. As a result of the time delay, performance suffers.

2.1.7 Traveling wave-based

For fault detection, this protection method employs mathematical morphology (MM). MM detects faults by performing addition and subtraction operations. It reduces the amount of computation required, but the performance of the traveling-based method is dependent on high-frequency waves disturbance. Communication failure is a risk in the proposed scheme.

2.1.8 Transformation Based

The wavelet transform (WT) and multi-class support vector machine are used to diagnose the fault in this method. The lowest voltage drop then injects a highfrequency voltage to inspect the others. The threshold is a problem associated with the above-mentioned fault detection method. To keep the MG from being under balanced load conditions, a threshold value must be set.

2.2 Data-Driven based methods

- 1. Decision -tree-based
- 2. ANN-based
- 3. Fuzzy based

2.2.1 Decision tree-based

In the decision tree, method data is extracted and utilized by the decision tree to evaluate the fault. Current at the local end is measured with wavelet transform to detect the fault by the decision tree. The negative, positive, and zero sequences are derived by a sequence analyzer to help assess the system. An inverter-based Microgrids j48 and Naïve Bayes [7], two statistical classifiers are used in the decision tree to categories the fault. DFT is also used in a protection system to extract the data for fault diagnosis.

There are complications associated with the tree-based technique

- For the decision tree training, extensive data is required.
- Prune the algorithm and establish the best split of each tree node is a complicated task.
- Due to a noisy environment, this technique is prone to missed detection.
- The insufficient data leads to miscalculation and false estimation.

2.2.2 ANN-based

In ANN, input signals are used in ANN trained algorithms t detect and localize the fault. A combination of symmetrical components and an adaptive Neuro-Fuzzy interference system is also used in some techniques to identify the faulty phase. Though ANN is an advanced technology to analyze faults and diagnose system issues there are few drawbacks associated with it.

- For the operation, extensive training is required.
- For the large size neuro network, a high processing time is required.
- Limited capability to recognize the possible underlying relation and prone to overfitting.

2.2.3 Fuzzy Based

This technique used fuzzy logic to identify fault, in this technique fuzzy logic combines with wavelet singular entropy is used to analyze fault. Hilbert space power with fuzzy interference processor-based protection scheme is also used for investigating the fault.

There are some issues associated with fuzzy logic-based techniques.

- Finding fuzzy rules and accurate membership functions is difficult.
- Stability is a major concern associated with this technique
- To verify and validate the system extensive testing and hardware are required.

2.3 Fault Location

Fault location in the microgrid is grave to restore the system and ensure reliability. Consumer complaints were used to locate faults in our previous system. This technique used the complaint call location and match with the distribution network line to identify the faulty zone [5]. The field staff (lineman and Headline man) then deployed to restore the system by locating the faulty feeder. In the recent past, Technology has developed, and new advanced techniques have been introduced for the localization of faulted feeders in the distribution system. There are many techniques for the estimation of fault location, but they can primarily classify into three main categories.

- Impedance based fault location technique
- Traveling wave-based fault location technique
- Knowledge-based fault location technique

Researchers have been able to use these techniques for fault detection and classification thanks to the convergence of developments in the domains of signal

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

processing techniques, artificial intelligence, data analytics, and sensor technologies such as the Internet of Things (IoT). These techniques have extended the horizon of traditional protection techniques. The fast growth of interest and improvements in smart grids and related ideas such as microgrids over the last decade has fueled research into establishing an intelligent fault diagnosis system that can accurately categorize and pinpoint fault locations. This section covers key relevant research and does a thorough literature review on fault classification using deep learning algorithms, including a review of previously published material. Data-driven and signal-processing approaches have become increasingly popular in recent years it is used in microgrids to detect and categorize faults. Some of the most commonly used machine learning methods in such investigations are artificial neural networks and various types of networks, support vector machines, decision trees (DT), and K-nearest neighbors (KNN) [8]. It is used to detect and categorize faults in microgrids. Artificial neural networks and various types of networks, support vector machines, decision trees (DT), and K-nearest neighbors are some of the most commonly used machine learning methods in such investigations (KNN). These characteristics are utilized to detect faults and then input into a neural network with gated recurrent units to classify faults. The author put their suggested methodology to the test using the CERTS microgrid testbed using the IEEE-34 bus system, achieving high fault classification accuracy. In microgrids, Jayamaha et al. [9] use similar methods for the detection of the fault. The relative wavelet energy of the signals is recovered using DWT-based Multi-resolution analysis (MRA) of the input signals 5. A simple feed-forward neural network is used to classify the input features. Hagh et al. [10] present a modular artificial neural network (ANN) for fault classification and placement that requires multiple networks to be trained for each type of fault. This strategy helps to reduce network training time and computational complexity because each network only needs to learn one type of failure and does not need to be trained on all available data [11]. This approach, however, only recognizes the four categories of errors and does not identify any others the erroneous stages. Wavelets transformations have been widely used in the field of fault detection

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

and classification because of their ability to improve the differentiability between faulted and non-faulted data by projecting the data in the time-frequency domain. Wavelet transforms have been used in conjunction with machine learning approaches for fault categorization in several studies [12] and [13].

In addition to neural networks, decision trees and K-nearest neighbors are common fault classification techniques. Li et al. [12] used two decision trees to detect and identify problems in transmission lines based on fifteen features retrieved using DWT, and the random forest method achieved a classification accuracy of 94%. The approach also fails to detect the faulty phases. Trees were used to make decisions Jamebozorg et al. [14] utilized them to classify transmission line failures.

Abdelgayed et al. [15] use training decision trees and KNN classifiers to classify faults in transmission and distribution systems, including microgrids, using a semisupervised machine learning strategy that handles both labeled and unlabeled data. The use of convolutional neural networks (CNN) for fault classification is an innovative method in that signals aren't used as direct inputs to the classifier. The signals are usually converted to pictures using extracted features, and then the CNN is trained. In their research, Guo et al. [16] use the Hilbert-Huang transform to generate an energy matrix from the time-frequency pieces. The energy matrix is converted into an image by appropriately translating its values to the color values in a colormap. This method yielded good accuracy, according to the author. In [17] author reported a high accuracy approach to categorize single-phase earth faults. The author Liao et al. [18] used CNN for voltage sag estimation and classification, where matrices of selected variables formed using the concept of the system area mapping were used as inputs to the CNN. Bagheri et al. [19] present a CNN-based technique for voltage dip categorization. For efficient extraction and classification characterization of dip characteristics that are independent of dip duration and sample frequency in a recording, the author used deep learning in a two-dimensional transform domain with a space-phasor model [20].

Other unique approaches to fault classification, in addition to the techniques out-

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

lined, include as follows. Principal component analysis is used by Alsafasfeh et al. [21] to classify faults based on phase current values in only one-fourth of a cycle. Chaitanya and Yadav [22] investigated how to detect and classify high impedance defects using a fuzzy interference method. In each phase, two different fuzzy interface systems (FIS) are modeled to detect the fault. The first FIS recognizes large fault currents associated with conventional shunt faults, while the second FIS recognizes small fault currents associated with high impedance faults. Mishra and Yadav [23] employed a categorization technique based on Discrete Fourier Transform and fuzzy logic in their research. In [24] author presents a hybrid method based on ANN and wavelets for fault classification and detection. In literature, only a few researchers have paid attention to the quality of simulated signals. Artificial intelligence-based and machine learning algorithms are data-driven. Due attention must be paid to train the network otherwise the performance of the implemented scheme will have a significant difference. To address this issue researchers, need to generate data that should be close to the real world. As a result, in addition to 20 dB SNR, we incorporate Additive Impulse Gaussian Noise (AIGN) to simulate impulses caused by random switching of loads in the microgrid and impulses caused by inverter switching, as reported by Zimmermann and Dostert [25] and Tehrani and Yeh [26].

Different fault location-based techniques are developed which are as followed.

2.3.1 Impedance based approach

This method measured voltage and current of distribution lines and determines the fault location by analyzing line impedance up to the fault point. Radial distribution systems are the most common application for this method. The basic flowchart of the impedance-based method is shown in Figure 2.1. The following is a description of it in more detail.

2.3.2 Single terminal impedance method

The apparent impedance to the fault location is estimated using the voltages and currents from one end of the distribution lines in the single terminal



Figure 2.1: Basic flowchart of impedance based method

impedance method. 3-ph current and voltages are measured to find the 7 types of faults [5]. The single line diagram of a three-phase circuit is shown in Figure 2.2. The fault on phase A is a phase-to-ground fault. With an impedance of ZL, the distribution line is assumed to be homogeneous. VS and VF are the terminal and fault voltage respectively and Ia is the current at the terminal.



Figure 2.2: Single line diagram of three-phase circuit with fault at phase A and one ended source for distribution line

The fault impedance (ZF) and distance (m) to the fault are given by mathemat-

ical equation as follows:

$$Z_F = V_F + mI_a Z_L \tag{2.3.1}$$

Due to fault condition, $I_a = I_F$. Therefore,

$$Z_F = \frac{V_s}{I_F} = R_F + mZ_L$$
 (2.3.2)

$$m = \frac{V_s}{(Z_L + R_F)I_F}$$
(2.3.3)

Estimation of fault location is affected by many factors that are not considered by the above equation 2.3.1.

2.3.3 Double terminal impedance method

It measures voltage and current at both ends of the line. The terminal voltages of the three-phase line are VS and VR, as shown in a single line diagram (see Figure 2.3). On the homogeneous three-phase line of impedance ZL, phase-toground faults at phase A are shown to have occurred. The distance (m) between the left terminal and the fault location is calculated using the negative sequence network shown in Figure 2.4. Mathematically, it is represented as follows [5]:

$$m = \frac{V_{2S} - V_{2R} + Z_{1L} * I_{2R}}{Z_{1L} * (I_{2S} + I_{2R})}$$
(2.3.4)

The one-ended impedance method is relatively simple and doesn't require a communication channel for data collection at the far end. Accuracy of fault location is affected by several parameters such as reactance effect, mutual coupling due to zero sequence current, improper faulted phase detection, inaccurate line modeling, load unbalances, measurement errors from different devices, etc. On the other hand, the two-terminal method gives accurate results concerning the fault location. However, collecting data from both terminals takes longer, and data synchronization is required on both ends before analysis can begin. Among different techniques suggested for fault location methods, Mora-Flòrez et al. in [27]


Figure 2.3: Single line diagram of three-phase circuit with fault at phase A and two ended MF source for distribution line



Figure 2.4: Negative sequence network [5]

compared two methods used for the impedance-based technique. In this study, Das et al. [28] proposed a technique that produced better results for double line and double line-to-ground faults. Warrington's technique, on the other hand, suggested greater accuracy for various fault resistance values. After that, a combination of the two techniques was proposed, which performed better for all fault types. For a balanced medium voltage (MV) radial system, Saha 10 et al. [29] proposed a fault location technique that took into account intermediate tapped loads and non-homogenous feeder lines. [30] presented mathematical equations for identifying various types of faults that occurred on the main feeders. Also, the static loads were assumed to be attached to the main feeder. Liao in [31] proposed a general method that reduces the efforts utilized in iterative methods and combined the advantages of SC analysis and bus impedance matrix techniques. The disadvantages to impedance-based fault locations include multiple fault location identification due to the possibility of faults occurring at same distances from the source, load unbalances, inaccuracies involved in line impedance values, measurement errors from various devices and transformer voltage and current errors, the effects due to ground and fault resistances (known as reactance effect), the filter system employed for voltage and current phasors and the time consumed in iterative techniques.

2.3.4 Traveling wave-based approach

In the traveling wave technique, high-frequency waves called surges or impulses are generated [5]. These traveling waves arise due to different reasons. Some of the common causes include faults on overhead lines, switching operations, and lightning strikes. As a result, the resulting surges move with the speed of light. The traveling waves are made up of both voltage and current waves that are linked together by the line's surge impedance (Zo). To provide accurate data, the traveling wave technique requires a standard time reference at both ends of the line. The data could be a precise current or voltage waveform. After that, the fault is located by calculating the wave arrival times at both terminals. The following formula can be used to calculate the fault location (for type A):

$$m = \frac{\Delta t}{2} * v_p \tag{2.3.5}$$

where V_p is the propagation velocity, Δt is the arrival time difference of the traveling waves. Different types of techniques are employed in fault locators based on traveling waves. They are categorized as Type A, B, C, D, and E. They are briefly discussed as follows:

Type A: The fault location is determined using this technique by measuring the time difference between the arrival wave and its reflected wave from a single terminal, as shown in Figure 2.5. Equation 2.3.5 expresses the fault location i.e.



Figure 2.5: Single line diagram of three-phase circuit when travelling waves propagate towards source terminals when fault occurs on any of the three phase

half of the measured time difference.

Type B: The fault location is determined using this method by analyzing traveling waves from both ends of the line. Between the arrivals of the traveling waves at both terminals, the time difference is measured. A timing signal is initiated at the arrival of the traveling wave from the local terminal and continues until a stop signal is received at the terminal at the remote location. Similarly, a stop signal is sent to the data center when the traveling wave is detected at the remote location terminal. The delay time involved in this process is known and it is then subtracted from the total time difference. The resultant time difference is then used to compute the distance to the fault as follows:

$$m = \frac{\Delta t}{2} * \frac{L}{2} * v_p \tag{2.3.6}$$

Type C: In the type C method, an impulse is injected into the transmission line when a fault is detected at some point. The method used is known as time-domain reflectometry (TDM). The time difference between the injected impulse and the arrival of the reflected wave is used to calculate the distance to the fault. After that, the distance to the fault location is calculated in the same way as with the **Type A** method.

Type D: This method requires highly accurate devices to provide timing information at all terminals of the line. The traveling wave arrival at the terminal is time-stamped via a time-synchronized clock provided at all the terminals of the transmission line. The recorded traveling waves are then sent to the data center through communication channels where it is processed. The fault location is determined in several different ways, one of its methods being similar to that used for the **Type B** technique.

Type E: When a line is re-energized after the circuit breakers at one end of the line have reclosing action, a transient is observed. For locating faults in underground cables, this method is similar to the impulse current method. Permanent faults on transmission lines are located using **Type E** methods. The flowchart of the basic traveling wave technique is shown in Figure 2.6.



Figure 2.6: Basic flowchart of travelling wave based technique

In transmission networks, the various types of techniques discussed above have been successfully implemented. In [32], the researchers suggest a cross-correlation function for the incident and reflected waves to locate distribution system faults. This method was applied to both single-ended and double-ended systems. The double-ended method was more effective and provide accurate results when fault recorders were installed at two ends of the distribution lines. In [33], Coggins et al. presented a traveling wave-based approach in which fault recorders were installed on a medium voltage (MV) distribution network to analyze capacitor switching events, as well as their preliminary findings. When recording impulses for event fault location, however, the results were less accurate. A novel fault location technique was introduced that utilize the characteristic frequency of recorded traveling wave using digital simulation to locate faults on the distribution network [34]. Other fault location methods using traveling wave-based approach are reported in [35, 36].

In comparison to the impedance-based technique, the traveling wave-based technique yields more accurate results. Fault resistance, frantic iterative processing, and tapped loads are all addressed by proposing innovative solutions. However, the implementation of the traveling wave-based technique is complex and expensive. It requires the GPS, fault recorder, and diagnostic software. The installation of fault recorders on such a network is inappropriate due to the complexity of the distribution network's configuration. This technique is better suited to long lines and requires high-speed broadband communication channels. Also, the location accuracy predicted by this method is affected significantly by noise in data measurements.

2.4 Knowledge-based approach for fault localization

This is the more advanced category used in a microgrid for fault localization. It is further divided into three sub-categories.

- Artificial intelligence-based fault localization
- Distribution Devices based Method
- Hybrid method

2.4.1 Artificial intelligence (AI) based Fault location

Different artificial intelligence-based techniques have been developed with the advent of the internet and computer technology. These techniques help professionals to perform complex tasks in less time. Human errors are reduced by using artificial neural networks (ANN), fuzzy logic (FL), genetic algorithms (GA), and expert systems (ES) among other technologies [37]. Artificial neural networks and vector machines are the most reliable and widely used for fault localization due to their capability to recognize complex fault patterns. Below Figure 2.7 shows the basic function of the knowledge-based technique.



Figure 2.7: Basic flowchart of Knowledge based method

In this method network parameters were obtained for fault location measurement and the results are accurate. At the substation, three-phase currents, voltages, and active powers are measured and fed into ANN. After that, the ANN calculates the distance to the fault.

Some intelligent methods are used for fault location recently. In [38] author used a type-2 fuzzy logic system for fault classification and zone identification. For detection, classification, and fault location identification, the proposed strategy considers a variety of uncertainties related to faults and utilizes 2 distinct fuzzy systems. The fault is detected and classified using the deep brief network scheme is used in Ref. [39]. Discrete wavelet transform identifies the statistical patterns using the data from relays. This data is passed to deep neural networks

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

to detect and locate the fault. In [40] fault detection and localization are done through hybrid technique by using SVM MSVM and wavelet transform WT. In the first step, each DG's voltage detects a problem, and the DG with the greatest voltage collapse injects a 333 Hz harmonic to locate another DG where the fault is located. Finally, the fault is located in a smaller search space using a wavelet transform and an optimized multiclass support vector machine (M-SVM). Ref [41] and [42] use an SVM classifier for detection of fault and then location is estimated based on harmonic injection that fed to MSVM.

The proposed SVM-based approach solves the problem of distinguishing between islanding and grid fault occurrences, allowing for better precision in islanding detection while also accurately detecting grid faults. The CNN scheme was used by the author in [43] for the protection of PV integrated Microgrids. A CNN-based protection strategy for fault detection classification and location is proposed in ref [44, 45]. This strategy takes TP current signals as input and applies convolution and pooling to extract features from input data. The CNNs layers then identify the fault type and location. In ref. [6] data mining intelligent differential scheme uses discrete Fourier Transform for feature extraction, but it is a high computational technique.

2.4.2 Distributed devices-based fault location Method

This scheme calculates fault localization based on simulated and measured data. The proposed technique uses current and voltage measurements from different fault locations [46]. Figure 2.8 illustrates the basic flowchart distributed devices-based data matching techniques for fault location in the microgrid.

2.4.3 Hybrid Methods

This technique is used to analyze transient occurring in the microgrid. The most effective approach that is used for current and voltage analysis in signal processing is based on the hybrid method. The wavelet transforms both continuous and discrete are commonly used in power system fault detection and localization [47].

In presence of variation of load, angle of inception, and fault impedance, the



Figure 2.8: Flowchart of Distributed devices based fault location method

proposed method is more effective, and its results are more accurate.

Single point-based fault location techniques are also proposed by using traveling waves (TW), which detect the characteristic frequencies of TW from the fault point in the microgrid. In [48], a fast hybrid method has been presented to locate the fault in distributed generation (DG) systems. Current and voltage measured from the main substation and DG connection points are fed to feedforward artificial neural network (ANN) to calculate fault distances from all sources [49, 50]. It is very simple to implement knowledge-based methods but at the same time, the execution of these methods highly depends on correct data extraction. Inaccurate data obtained from an insufficient number of monitoring or measuring devices have a significant impact on the accuracy of results. The implementation of this method is also hampered by the placement of expensive devices on each node [51].

2.5 Proposed Scheme

This paper proposes a novel protection scheme to address the above-mentioned literature issues and create a protection scheme for the two modes of a microgrid: islanded and on-grid. The positive sequence component of voltage and current, which is extracted from both local and remote buses, is used to detect and classify the fault. Positive and negative sequence components are extracted from the buses to locate faults. To evaluate the efficacy in various modes of operation and topologies, simulations are carried out using MATLAB/Simulink.

2.6 Contribution of Proposed Scheme

The contribution of the Proposed Scheme

- 1. Defend the system from solid-state and high-impedance faults.
- 2. The proposed scheme is reliable for fault detection, location, and classification because it is independent of fault type and even works for high and low impedance faults.
- 3. Both grid-connected and islanding modes of operation are supported.
- 4. The proposed scheme applies to Microgrid topologies with radial and meshed topologies.
- 5. Under noisy measurement conditions, protect the system.



Figure 2.9: Generalized Framework of Proposed Microgrid Protection scheme

Summary

This chapter discusses all available technologies for microgrid protection. The chapter discusses the main categories of fault location techniques used in fault

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

location in a microgrid. The schemes are explained in detail. The previous work carried out in literature has been discussed. The advantages and disadvantages of each technique have been reviewed. Later, a brief description based on new sequence component-based fault detection and location has been elaborated. This chapter provides the foundation for mathematical modeling and Microgrid test system are given in the next chapter addresses the protection issues that need to be overcome to implement the smart grid technology.

References

- [1] B. A.H.A, L.J.Awalin H.Mokhlis, *Przeglad Elektrotechniczny*.
- [2] M. Shafiullah and M. Abido, "A review on distribution grid fault location techniques"," *Electric Power Components and Systems*, vol. 45, pp. 807–824, 2017.
- M. Gholami, A. Abbaspour, S. Fattaheian-Dehkordi, M. Lehtonen,
 M. Moeini-Aghtaie, and M. Fotuhi, "Optimal allocation of pmus in active distribution network considering reliability of state estimation results"," *IET Generation Transmission & Distribution*, vol. 14, pp. 3641–3651, 2020.
- [4] "Office of electricity regulation. report on distribution and transmission system ed," 1997/1998. [Online]. Available: http://www.ofgem.gov.uk/Net works/ElecDist/QualofServ/QoSI
- [5] "Ieee guide for determining fault location on ac transmission and distribution lines," *IEEE Std C37.114-2014 (Revision of IEEE Std C37.114-2004*, vol. l, pp. 1–76, 2015.
- [6] S. Kar, S. Samantaray, and M. Zadeh, "Data-mining model based intelligent differential microgrid protection scheme," *IEEE Systems Journal*, vol. 11, pp. 1161–1169, 2017.
- [7] M. Zamani, A. Yazdani, and T. Sidhu, "A communication assisted protection strategy for inverter-based medium-voltage microgrids," *IEEE Transactions Smart Grid*, vol. 3, pp. 2088–2099, 2012.
- [8] J. Yu, Y. Hou, A. Lam, and V. Li, "Intelligent fault detection scheme for

microgrids with wavelet-based deep neural networks," *IEEE Transactions Smart Grid*, vol. 10, pp. 1694–1703, 2019.

- [9] D. Jayamaha, N. Lidula, and A. Rajapakse, "Wavelet-multi resolution analysis based ann architecture for fault detection and localization in dc microgrids," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 145371–145384, 2019.
- [10] M. Hagh, K. Razi, and H. Taghizadeh, "Fault classification and location of power transmission lines using artificial neural network," 8th International Power Engineering Conference IPEC, pp. 1109–1114, 2007.
- [11] D. Mishra, S. Samantaray, G. Joos, and Joos, "A combined wavelet and data-mining based intelligent protection scheme for microgrid," *IEEE Transactions Smart Grid*, vol. 7, pp. 2295–2304, 2016.
- [12] W. Li, A. Monti, and F. Ponci, "Fault detection and classification in medium voltage dc shipboard power systems with wavelets and artificial neural networks," *IEEE Transactions Instrument Measurement*, vol. 63, 2014.
- [13] K. Silva, B. Souza, and N. Brito, "Fault detection and classification in transactions lines based on wavelet transform and ann," *IEEE Transactions Power Delivery*, vol. 21, pp. 2058–2063, 2006.
- [14] A. Jamehbozorg and S. Shahrtash, "A decision tree-based method for fault classification in double-circuit transmission lines," *IEEE Transactions Power Delivery*, vol. 25, pp. 2184–2189, 2010.
- [15] T. Abdelgayed, W. Morsi, and T. Sidhu, "A new approach for fault classification in microgrids using optimal wavelet functions matching pursuit," *IEEE Transactions Smart Grid*, vol. 9, p. 4838–4846, 2018.
- [16] M. Guo, N. Yang, and W. Chen, "Deep-learning-based fault classification using hilbert-huang transform and convolutional neural network in power distribution systems," *IEEE Sens. Journal*, vol. 19, pp. 6905–6913, 2019.

- [17] Y. Li, Y. Zhang, W. Liu, Z. Chen, and J. Yang, "A fault pattern and convolutional neural network based single-phase earth fault identification method for distribution network," *IEEE PES Innovation Smart Grid Technology*, pp. 838–843, 2019.
- [18] H. Liao, J. Milanovic, M. Rodrigues, and A. Shenfield, "Voltage sag estimation in sparsely monitored power systems based on deep learning and system area mapping," *IEEE Transactions Power Delivery*, vol. 33, pp. 3162–3172, 2018.
- [19] A. Bagheri, I. Gu, M. Bollen, and E. Balouji, "A robust transform-domain deep convolutional network for voltage dip classification," *IEEE Transactions Power Delivery*, vol. 33, pp. 2794–2802, 2018.
- [20] H. Al-Nasseri, M. Redfern, and F. Li, "A voltage based protection for microgrids containing power electronic converters," *IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting*, 2006.
- [21] Q. Alsafasfeh, I. Abdel-Qader, and A. Harb, "Fault classification and localization in power systems using fault signatures and principal components analysis," *Energy Power Engineering*, vol. 4, pp. 506–522, 2012.
- [22] B. Chaitanya and A. Yadav, "An intelligent fault detection and classification scheme for distribution lines integrated with distributed generators," *Computer Electical Eng*, vol. 69, pp. 28–40, 2018.
- [23] P. Mishra and A. Yadav, "Combined dft and fuzzy based faulty phase selection and classification in a series compensated transmission line," *Model Simulation Eng*, 2019.
- [24] R. Salim, K. Oliveira, A. Filomena, M. Resener, and A. Bretas, "Hybrid fault diagnosis scheme implementation for power distribution systems automation," *IEEE Transactions Power Delivery*, vol. 23, pp. 1846–1856, 2008.
- [25] M. Zimmermann and K. Dostert, "A multipath model for the powerline channel," *IEEE Transactions Communication*, vol. 50, pp. 553–559, 2002.

- [26] A. Tehrani and H. Yeh, "Space-time parallel cancellation orthogonal frequency division multiplexing in power line communications," *IEEE Green Energy Smart System Conference IGESSC*, 2018.
- [27] C.-C. G, J.Mora-Florez J.Melendez, "Comparison of impedance fault location methods for power distribution systems," *Electrical Power System*, vol. 78, pp. 657–666, 2008.
- [28] T.-S. R.Das M.Shadev, "A technique for estimating locations on shunt faults on distribution lines," *Proc. IEEE WESCANEX*, vol. 1, pp. 6–11, 1995.
- [29] E.-R. M.M.Saha F.Provoost, "Fault location method for mv cable network," Proc. 7th International Conference Developments in Power System Protection, pp. 323–326, 2001.
- [30] L. L, A.A.Girgis C.M.Fallon D., "A fault location technique for rural distribution feeders," *IEEE Transactions Ind. Application*, vol. 29, pp. 1170–1175, 1993.
- [31] Liao, Fault-Location Methods for Overhead Electric Distribution System, 2011, vol. 26.
- [32] E. D.W.P.Thomas, R.J.O.Carvalho, "Fault location in distribution systems on traveling waves," *IEEE Bologna Power Technology Conference*, 2003.
- [33] D. Coggins, D. Thomas, B. Hayes-Gill, Y. Zhu, E. Pereira, and S. Cabral, "Initial experiences with new fpga based traveling wave fault recorder installed on a mv distribution network," *Joint International conference on power system technology and IEEE Power India Conference. IEEE*, pp. 1–8, 2008.
- [34] J. Tang, X. Yin, and Z. Zhang, "Traveling-wave-based fault location in electrical distribution system with digital simulations," *Telecommunication Computer Electronic Control*, vol. 12, 2014.

- [35] Z. Xiu-xia and H. Jia-dong, "New research-based fault location on a distribution network," *China International Conference on Electricity Distribution*. *IEEE*, pp. 1–4, 2008.
- [36] X. Zhao, Y. Qi, and G. Li, "Research and implementation of plc for multiport traveling wave fault location in the medium voltage distribution network," 4th International Conference on Electrical Utility Deregulation and Restructuring and Power Technologies (DRPT). IEEE, pp. 614–617, 2011.
- [37] S. Mirsaeidi, D. Said, M. Mustafa, M. Habibuddin, and K. Ghaffari, "A protection strategy for micro-grids based on positive sequence impedance," *Distribution Generation Alternate Energy Journal*, vol. 31, pp. 7–32, 2016.
- [38] R. H. Bukhari, S.B.A., "An interval type-2 fuzzy logic-based strategy for microgrid protection," *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy* Systems, vol. 98, pp. 209–218, 2018.
- [39] Y. J.Q, James, "Intelligent fault detection scheme for microgrids with wavelet-based deep neural networks," *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 2017.
- [40] S. Beheshtaein, "A hybrid algorithm for fault locating in looped microgrids," IEEE Energy Conversion Congress & amp; Exposition (ECCE), 2016.
- [41] H. R. Baghaee, "Support vector machine-based islanding and grid fault detection in active distribution networks," *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, pp. 2385–2403, 2020.
- [42] S. Baloch and M. Muhammad, "An intelligent data mining-based fault detection and classification strategy for microgrid," *IEEE Access*, vol. 9, pp. 22470–22479, 2021.
- [43] S. R. Ola, "A protection scheme for a power system with solar energy penetration," *Applied Science*, vol. 10, 2020.
- [44] C.-H. K. Bukhari, S.B.A., "Convolutional neural network-based intelligent protection strategy for microgrids," vol. 14, pp. 1177–1185, 2020.

- [45] H. Laaksonen, "Protection principles for future microgrids," *IEEE Transac*tions Power Electron, vol. 25, pp. 2910–2918, 2010.
- [46] J. Ma, X. Wang, Y. Zhang, Q. Yang, and A. Phadke, "A novel adaptive current protection scheme for distribution systems with distributed generation," *International Journal Electrical Power Energy System*, vol. 43, pp. 1460–1466, 2012.
- [47] A. Oudalov and A. Fidigatti, "Adaptive network protection in microgrids," International Journal Distribution Energy Resource, vol. 5, pp. 201–226, 2009.
- [48] S. Jamali, A. Bahmanyar, and S. Ranjbar, "Hybrid classifier for fault location in active distribution networks," *Prot Control Mod Power System*, vol. 5, 2020.
- [49] S. Saleh, R. Ahshan, M. Abu-Khaizaran, B. Alsayid, and M. Rahman, "Implementing and testing-wpt-based digital protection for microgrid systems," *IEEE Transactions Ind. Applied*, vol. 50, pp. 2173–2185, 2014.
- [50] S. Mirsaeidi, D. Said, M. Mustafa, M. Habibuddin, and K. Ghaffari, "Progress and problems in micro-grid protection schemes," *Renewable Sustainable Energy Rev*, vol. 37, pp. 834–839, 2014.
- [51] —, "Fault location and isolation in micro-grids using a digital central protection unit," *Renewable Sustainble Energy Rev*, vol. 56, pp. 1–17, 2016.

Chapter 3

Methodology

This chapter outlines the general assumptions associated with the micro-grid protection, followed by the general setup of equations and equipment pertaining to those assumptions and parameters. Afterward, the proposed scheme is implemented on the test model in MATLAB/Simulink to check the accuracy of the scheme [1]. The chapter provides an overview of the proposed scheme to detect, classify the faults and locate the pinpoint location of the fault in microgrids using the sequence component technique. This scheme is designed such that it addresses the challenges posed by microgrids as discussed in the literature review. The proposed scheme is adaptive and viable for both modes of operation. In case of a fault, it detects, classifies, and locates the fault with high accuracy and confidence. The goal of the scheme is to provide a reliable method for fault identification, classification, and localization [2]. To address the problem statement a new sequence component-based approach is introduced in this thesis.

The proposed microgrid protection scheme develops a new indicator for fault detection named "Fault Index (FI)". The term FI is defined as the ratio of the sum of fault complex power at both buses divided by complex power at the local end minus complex power at the remote end. In this research work, the positive sequence component of the fault voltage and fault current is extracted from both ends of the line. The FI is calculated from these extracted positive sequence data. KVL equation between bus 1 and 2 is applied [3].

First, the proposed scheme segregates internal and external fault for fault de-

tection. Later, the fault localization algorithm estimates the fault distance. Afterward, the fault classification algorithm classifies all types of faults e.g., Single Line to ground fault, Line to line fault, Double line to ground fault and triple line to ground fault, etc. Afterward, a faulty zone is isolated through relay tripping.

3.1 Fault Identification

For identification of fault in the microgrid a threshold-based algorithm is developed. Complex power from local buses and remote end is extracted to formulate Fault Index (FI). In this thesis, positive sequence of current and voltage are considered for fault detection [4].

$$\widetilde{V}_{p_1} - l_z \widetilde{I}_{p_1} = \widetilde{V}_{p_2} - (\overline{(1-l)z} \widetilde{I}_{p_2})$$
$$\widetilde{V}_{p_1} = \widetilde{V}_{p_2} + l_z \widetilde{I}_{p_1} - (\overline{(1-l)z} \widetilde{I}_{p_2})$$
(3.1.1)

Complex power at bus 1 and 2 is represented by Equation 3.1.2 and Equation 3.1.3.

$$\widetilde{S}_{p_1} = \widetilde{V}_{p_1} \times (\widetilde{I}_{p_1})^* = (\widetilde{V}_{p_2} \cdot \widetilde{I}_{p_1}) + (lz \cdot (|I_{p_1}|^2)) - (\overline{(1-l)z} \cdot \widetilde{I}_{p_1} \cdot \widetilde{I}_{p_2})$$
(3.1.2)

Similarly,

$$\widetilde{S}_{p_2} = (\widetilde{V}_{p_1}.\widetilde{I}_{p_2}) + (\overline{(1-l)z}.(|I_{p_2}|^2))) - (lz.\widetilde{I}_{p_1}.\widetilde{I}_{p_2})$$
(3.1.3)

The sum and difference of complex power at Bus 1 and Bus can be obtained from Equation 3.1.2 and Equation 3.1.3.

$$\widetilde{S}_{p_1} + \widetilde{S}_{p_2} = (\widetilde{V}_{p_1}.\widetilde{I}_{p_2} + \widetilde{V}_{p_2}.\widetilde{I}_{p_1}) + lz.(|I_{p_1}|^2 - |I_{p_2}|^2) + l.\widetilde{I}_{p_2}.(\widetilde{I}_{p_2} - \widetilde{I}_{p_1}) = K_1 \quad (3.1.4)$$

$$\widetilde{S}_{p_1} - \widetilde{S}_{p_2} = (\widetilde{V}_{p_2}.\widetilde{I}_{p_1} - \widetilde{V}_{p_1}.\widetilde{I}_{p_2}) + lz.((\widetilde{I}_{p_1} + \widetilde{I}_{p_2})^2) - l.\widetilde{I}_{p_2}.(\widetilde{I}_{p_2} + \widetilde{I}_{p_1}) = K_2 \quad (3.1.5)$$

$$= (\widetilde{V}_{p_2}.\widetilde{I}_{p_1} + (lz.(|I_{p_1}|^2)) - (\overline{(1-l)z}.\widetilde{I}_{p_1}.\widetilde{I}_{p_2})$$

As shown in Equation 3.1.6, FI value is formulated from Equation 3.1.4 and Equation 3.1.5

$$FI = \frac{|\tilde{S}_{p_1} + \tilde{S}_{p_2}|}{|\tilde{S}_{p_1} - \tilde{S}_{p_2}|} = \frac{K_1}{K_2}$$
(3.1.6)

In case of fault, sequence components are formed, positive sequence current component at both the terminal can be expressed mathematically as.

$$\widetilde{I}_{p_1} = \frac{\widetilde{V}_{p_1} - \widetilde{V}_{p_2}}{z} \tag{3.1.7}$$

$$\widetilde{I}_{p_2} = \frac{\widetilde{V}_{p_2} - \widetilde{V}_{p_1}}{z}$$
(3.1.8)

Complex power at Bus 1 and Bus 2 can be obtain by using Equation 3.1.7 and Equation 3.1.8. $\sim \sim$

$$\widetilde{S}_{p_1} = \widetilde{V}_{p_1} \times (\widetilde{I}_{p_1})^* = \widetilde{V}_{p_1} \times (\frac{\widetilde{V}_{p_1} - \widetilde{V}_{p_2}}{z})$$
(3.1.9)

Rearranging Equation 3.1.2 and Equation 3.1.3 will give,

$$\widetilde{S}_{p_1} = \frac{(V_{p_1}^2 - V_{p_1} \cdot V_{p_2})}{z}$$
(3.1.10)

Similarly,

$$\widetilde{S}_{p_2} = \frac{(V_{p_2}^2 - V_{p_1} \cdot V_{p_2})}{z}$$
(3.1.11)

Both the difference and the sum of sequence components of the complex power at Bus 1 and Bus 2 can be obtained as

$$\widetilde{S}_{p_1} + \widetilde{S}_{p_2} = \frac{V_{p_1}^2 + V_{p_2}^2 - 2V_{p_1} \cdot V_{p_2}}{z} = \frac{(V_{p_1} - V_{p_2})^2}{z}$$
(3.1.12)

$$\tilde{S}_{p_1} - \tilde{S}_{p_2} = \frac{V_{p_1}^2 - V_{p_2}^2}{z}$$
(3.1.13)

Using Equation 3.1.12 and Equation 3.1.13, FI value has been formulated in the Equation 3.1.14 $$\sim\sim\sim$

$$FI = \frac{|\widetilde{S}_{p_1} + \widetilde{S}_{p_2}|}{|\widetilde{S}_{p_1} - \widetilde{S}_{p_2}|} = \frac{|V_{p_1} - V_{p_2}|}{|V_{p_1} + V_{p_2}|}$$
(3.1.14)

Chapter 3: Methodology

Here FI is the fault index, it is a threshold that detects the faults occurring in the system. When a fault occurs from both ends of the line, FI and positive sequence voltage and current components are estimated. In grid-connected and islanded mode, whenever a fault occurs, the FI value will cross the threshold [5]. Along with the fault detection in the system, this will identify the faulty line as well. It will segregate internal and external faults. For internal fault, both values of current and voltage will vary as FI is a function of positive sequence components of both voltage and current, so in case of fault FI will cross the threshold and fault will be identified. Hence, for internal fault, the FI value will cross the threshold and will identify the faulty line. For external or no-fault conditions, the voltage will not drop much and the FI value will not cross the threshold. From Equation 3.1.14 and Equation 3.1.6 it can be observed, FI for internal fault is always greater than no-fault or external fault condition because in Equation 3.1.14 it can be observed that FI for no fault or external fault is the function of voltage only [6]. In case of no-fault or external fault voltage records, both the buses will almost be the same hence numerator will yield a very small quantity. FI value for these is close to zero or very small. On the other hand, the FI value for internal fault is the function of both voltage and current as shown in Equation 3.1.6. FI value has been studied for a wide range of faults.



Figure 3.1: External and Internal Fault in Microgrid

3.2 Fault location algorithm

The proposed fault location algorithm makes use of both positive and negative current and voltage components for localizing the fault location. Under a faulty condition in grid-connected and islanding mode, positive and negative components are formed which are further used by the proposed algorithm to inspect the fault location [?]. Rearranging Equation 3.1.1

$$\widetilde{V}_{p_1} - \widetilde{V}_{p_2} = l_z . \widetilde{I}_{p_1} - (\overline{(1-l)z} . \widetilde{I}_{p_2})$$
(3.2.1)

Similarly, KVL eq. for negative sequence network can be represented as:

$$\widetilde{V}_{n_1} - \widetilde{V}_{n_2} = l_z . \widetilde{I}_{n_1} - (\overline{(1-l)z} . \widetilde{I}_{n_2})$$
 (3.2.2)

Solving Equation 3.2.1 and Equation 3.2.2 will give

$$lz = \frac{(\widetilde{V}_{p_1} - \widetilde{V}_{p_2}).\widetilde{I}_{n_2} - \widetilde{V}_{n_1} - \widetilde{V}_{n_2}.\widetilde{I}_{p_2}}{\widetilde{I}_{p_1}\widetilde{I}_{n_2} - \widetilde{I}_{p_2}\widetilde{I}_{n_1}}$$
(3.2.3)

$$(1-l)z = \frac{(\widetilde{V}_{p_1} - \widetilde{V}_{p_2}).\widetilde{I}_{n_1} - \widetilde{V}_{n_1} - \widetilde{V}_{n_2}.\widetilde{I}_{p_1}}{\widetilde{I}_{p_1}\widetilde{I}_{n_2} - \widetilde{I}_{p_2}\widetilde{I}_{n_1}}$$
(3.2.4)

Hence, the distance at which the fault occurs can be calculated by using the following equation.

$$l = \frac{lz}{lz + \overline{(1-l)z}} = \frac{(\widetilde{V}_{p_1} - \widetilde{V}_{p_2})\widetilde{I}_{n_2} - (\widetilde{V}_{n_1} - \widetilde{V}_{n_2})\widetilde{I}_{p_2}}{(\widetilde{V}_{p_1} - \widetilde{V}_{p_2})(\widetilde{I}_{n_1} + \widetilde{I}_{n_2}) - (\widetilde{V}_{p_1} - \widetilde{V}_{p_2})(\widetilde{I}_{p_1} - \widetilde{I}_{p_2})}$$
(3.2.5)

3.3 Proposed Microgrid Test Model

To check the validity and efficacy of the proposed scheme extensive simulation have been performed in MATLAB/Simulink Software using sequence components of current and voltage. The test system used in this research work for implementation and detail testing of prospered technique is stated as "Standard international Electro-Technical Commission IEC 61850-7-420 Microgrid Test Model [7]. The microgrid test model has a variety of operation setups. A single line diagram of IEC Microgrid with Six Buses is illustrated in Figure 3.1 A synchronous generator with four invert-based distribution sources is connected to the microgrid test model through step-up transformers. Using IDER's a control strategy has been established. There are five distribution lines in the system that are (DL1 to DL5). The test model has eight buses (B1 to B8) and a point of common coupling which connects the main grid to a microgrid. The network parameters and load are acquired from the Ref. with the operating voltage 25KV. For operating, a microgrid test model in grid-connected and Islanding mode circuit breaker at PCC is used. For radial and loop topological structure of microgrid operation, CB 100p-1 loop and CB-2 loop are used [8].



Figure 3.2: Standard International Electro Technical Comission IEC Microgrid Test Model



Figure 3.3: Measured three phase voltages at all six buses for no fault Condition



Figure 3.4: Measured three phase Current at all six buses for no fault condition

3.3.1 Fault Detection in Microgrid

- Sequence components are extracted from both ends of the distribution line.
- Current and voltage values are initially extracted at normal condition and then the fault is injected and again sequence components of current and voltage are extracted.
- A threshold is developed by using the extracted complex power from both end buses.
- In case of fault, FI will cross the threshold. Hence fault is detected.
- Each phase is analyzed to classify the fault type.

3.3.2 Fault localization in Microgrid

- After fault detection, both positive and negative sequence components are extracted from both ends of the line.
- Impedance is calculated using sequence component of voltage and current.
- Above mentioned algorithm by using impedance and sequence components of current and voltage estimate the distance of fault.

The proposed algorithm is implemented and verified for different types of faults. It is noticed that the proposed technique is viable for all types of fault and it is less complex and has a low computational load [9].

Summary

The mathematical modeling of the proposed scheme for Microgrid is presented in this chapter. The performance of the proposed scheme is analyzed by mathematical modeling and a Microgrid test system. The first fault detection algorithm is proposed. From both remote and local ends, sequence components of voltage and currents are obtained. The proposed technique is based on the location algorithm also used for locating faults in the microgrid. The proposed method is further clarified with the help of flowcharts and Figures. This chapter provides the support to simulate the proposed protection scheme on MATLAB/Simulink.

References

- S. Shekar, G. Kumar, and S. Lalitha, "Wavelet based transient fault detection and analysis of microgrid connected power system," *International Journal Power System*, vol. 1, pp. 46–52, 2016.
- [2] M. Manohar, E. Koley, and S. Ghosh, "A reliable fault detection and classification scheme based on wavelet transform and ensemble of svm for microgrid protection," *Proceedings of the International Conference on Applied and Theoretical Computing and Communication Technology*, pp. 24–28, 2017.
- [3] G. Buigues, A. Dysko, V. Valverde, I. Zamora, and E. FernÄindez, "Microgrid protection: Technical challenges and existing techniques," *Proceedings of the International Conference on Renewable Energies and Power Quality*, pp. 222– 227, 2013.
- [4] Y. Wang, J. Ravishankar, and T. Phung, "Wavelet transform-based feature extraction for detection and classification of disturbances in an islanded microgrid," *IET Generation Transmission Distribution*, vol. 13, pp. 2077–2087, 2018.
- [5] X. Lin, R. Zhang, N. Tong, X. Li, M. Li, and D. Yang, "Regional protection scheme designed for low-voltage micro-grids," *International Journal Electrical Power Energy System*, vol. 64, pp. 526–535, 2015.
- [6] E. Sortomme, S. Venkata, and J. Mitra, "Microgrid protection using communication-assisted digital relays," *IEEE Transactions Power Delivery*, vol. 25, pp. 2789–2796, 2010.

- [7] K. Saravanababu, P. Balakrishnan, and K. Sathiyasekar, "Transmission line faults detection, classification, and location using discrete wavelet transform," *Proceedings of the International Conference on Power, Energy and Control*, pp. 233–238, 2013.
- [8] Y. Wang, G. Wei, H. Yang, H. Chen, and Z. Ouyang, "Novel protection scheme of single-phase earth fault for radial distribution systems with distributed generators," *IEEE Transactions Power Delivery*, vol. 33, pp. 541–548, 2018.
- [9] S. Bukhari, M. Zaman, R. Haider, Y.-S. Oh, and C.-H. Kim, "A protection scheme for microgrid with multiple distributed generations using superimposed reactive energy," *International Journal Electrical Power Energy Sys*tem, vol. 92, pp. 156–166, 2017.

Chapter 4

Results and Discussion

4.1 Fault Analysis

An extensive analysis of fault in the Microgrid test system is executed to check the validity and accuracy of the proposed scheme. IEC Microgrid Test model is implemented in the MATLAB/Simulink 2019b software for data generation which is further used in different case studies to detect and locate the fault. Fault under different case studies includes a single line to ground fault, the line to line fault, triple line to ground fault, three-phase fault, and high impedance fault. In this research work, all types of faults are almost covered, in different operating scenarios, distribution lines, various resistances, load, and fault locations [1]. Above all, backup protection is also provided to avoid further damage in case of primary relay failure. In addition, a large number of no-fault cases are simulated in different constant and load varying conditions [2].

To check the accuracy of the proposed scheme a fault is injected on phase A between 0.15s to 0.30s. Figure 4.1 show that when a fault is initiated on phase A the value of current at Phase will shoot and on the other two phases current signals will not show any abnormality. Figure 4.2 shows when a fault is initiated at phase A between the 0.15s-0.30s voltage at phase A will drop and the voltage of remaining phases will normal. So the proposed scheme show in case of fault current will increase and voltage will decrease.



Figure 4.1: Current Signal in case of fault at phase A



Figure 4.2: Voltage Signal in case of fault at phase A

4.1.1 External Fault

The Proposed scheme has the capability of identifying the faulty zone. In case of external fault, the FI value measured at both ends of the transmission line will remain below the threshold [3]. By analyzing the FI signal, a fault zone can be detected. When there is no fault or in case of external fault FI value will be zero or very small.





Figure 4.3: FI Value for External Fault

4.1.2 Internal Fault

When a fault is inside the transmission line, FI measured at both the end of buses will cross the threshold and will detect the fault. FI signal analysis will show either fault is internal or external [4]. A fault is injected between bus 1 and bus 2 between 0.15s to 0.30s. FI signals measured at both crosses the threshold limit which shows that fault is in between Bus 1 and Bus 2. The below result shows the efficacy of the proposed scheme.



Figure 4.4: FI value for internal fault

4.1.3 Single Line to Ground Fault

In this case study, the fault is initiated on phase A, measured current and voltage signal will give the value of FI more than the Threshold. As shown in Figure 4.5 FI reaches 0.6 while the threshold is 0.2. The fault period is 0.15s to 0.30s and during this period FI value remains above the threshold. Hence, the proposed technique is viable for single line to ground fault [5].



Figure 4.5: FI value for Single Line to Ground fault

4.1.4 Phase to Phase fault and Double line to ground fault

When a fault is injected on two phases or double line to ground, the proposed scheme successfully detects the fault. Figure 4.6 shows FI value for phase-to-phase fault while Figure 4.7 shows FI value for double line to ground fault. The fault is introduced between 0.15s to 0.30s and for that period FI signal shows it crosses the threshold at 0.15s and clears the fault at 0.30s.

4.1.5 Triple line to ground fault

In this type of fault, a three-phase fault is injected into all three phases [6]. Each phase is analyzed and the result shows that in each phase, current increases and voltage drops. FI value will shoot to 1.5 which is eight times higher than the threshold value.





Figure 4.7: FI for Double line to ground fault

4.2 Fault Classification

In general, faults can be classified into two broader types. Some faults occur due to insulation failures or degradation of insolation which results in a short circuit between two live conductors such faults are called shunt faults. These faults occur due to sudden over-voltage or overstressed conditions. The faults which lead to the interruption of current flow are called series faults or open





Figure 4.9: FI for triple line to ground fault

circuit faults. Shunt fault which involves all three phases, or three phases, and ground are called symmetrical faults [7]. In LLL and LLLG faults all phases are affected. Shunt faults that occur due to short circuits involve Single line to ground fault, the line to a line fault, or double line to ground fault and these faults are called unsymmetrical faults. In such faults phase balance is disturbed and which results in unsymmetrical current components. The waveforms of three-phase current during single line to ground fault are shown in Figure 4.10. A three-phase current waveform for double line ground fault is shown in Figure 4.11 and a triple line to ground fault waveform is shown in Figure 4.12 Sometimes there may occur two or more faults at a time such faults are called simultaneous faults.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

These faults may be of the same type or may be of different types and maybe these faults occur at a different location not at the same location. Whenever an overhead distribution line broke it is simultaneously a single-phase short circuit and single-phase open-circuit fault at the same location [8]. The protection system must make sure that the microgrid gets isolated in case of a fault in the main grid and in case of a fault in the microgrid a minimum number of consumers should get affected. There are few challenges associated with the protection system of Microgrid.

- High penetration of inverter-based distribution sources results in a smaller and intermittent fault current magnitude.
- Different levels of fault current in different modes of Microgrid.
- Topological changes in microgrid due to isolation or reconnection of load, DGs, and storage system.
- Assessing the level of fault current is challenging in Microgrid due to the intermittent nature of DERs.

Thus, to address such issues a data-driven technique combined with signal processing is developed. As the proposed scheme is adaptive and analyzes signals with more accuracy. Using the proposed technique fault can be detected and classified even with the smallest change in the voltage and current. Hence, it reduces our dependence on the large magnitude of fault current. In this thesis we consider the classification of fault, given the condition that fault has occurred, the aim is to identify the faulty phase. This will help the control system to trip the only faulted phase which will avoid unnecessary Islanding of Microgrid, and further isolation of faulty zone and restoration of the power system will become easy. Fault is initiated at different phases and below Figure 4.10,4.11 and 4.12 shows the efficacy of proposed scheme. Each phase is classified and in case of fault, each phase shows abnormal behavior. By analyzing the waveform of measured current at each phase classify the type of fault.






Figure 4.11: Fault Classification for Line-to-Line fault



Figure 4.12: Fault Classification for triple line fault

Summary

The chapter verifies the efficacy and validity of the proposed scheme by simulating it in MATLAB/Simulink. The chapter presents the description of numerical simulation. On the Microgrid test system simulations were performed. The different case studies related to the model are being performed and evaluated. Algorithm results obtained from simulation are discussed in detail. The simulation result shows that the proposed scheme is fully trained to address protection issues. The proposed technique detected and located the fault with 100% accuracy.

References

- F. A. Anderson, P.M., Power system control and stability. John Wiley & Sons, 2008.
- [2] P. Kundur, Power system stability and control. McGraw-Hill Education, 1994.
- [3] Z. Haider, K. Mehmood, and M. Rafique, "Water-filling algorithm based approach for management of responsive residential loads," *Journal Mod. Power System Clean Energy*, vol. 6, pp. 118–131, 2018.
- [4] H. Bevrani, "Robust power system frequency control; power electronics and power systems," 2014.
- [5] E. Rakhshani, D. Remon, and A. Cantarellas, "Analysis of derivative control based virtual inertia in multi-area high-voltage direct current interconnected power systems," *IET Generation Transmission Distribution*, vol. 10, pp. 1458– 1469, 2016.
- [6] T. Kerdphol, F. Rahman, and Y. Mitani, "Virtual inertia control-based model predictive control for microgrid frequency stabilization considering high renewable energy integration," *Sustainability*, vol. 9, 2017.
- [7] T. Zheng, L. Chen, and Y. Guo, "Comprehensive control strategy of virtual synchronous generator under unbalanced voltage conditions," *IET Generation Transmission Distribution*, vol. 12, pp. 1621–1630, 2017.
- [8] V. Terzija, "Adaptive under frequency load shedding based on the magnitude of the disturbance estimation," *IEEE Transaction Power System*, vol. 21, pp. 1260–1266, 2006.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and Future Work

5.1 Conclusions

To meet the power quality and reliability concerns this thesis proposed an optimal way to address these issues. Microgrid faces many challenges due to the dynamic transition between grid-connected and islanding mode. Microgrid protection scheme designing is the main challenge and it is the last hindrance in the implementation of Microgrid technology. This thesis proposed a sequence-based technique for the protection of Microgrid. Firstly, the proposed scheme uses the positive sequence-based algorithm for fault detection and classification. Secondly, both positive and negative sequence components are extracted to locate the faulty section. Pinpoint fault location is obtained by the proposed algorithm. Results obtained from measurements were compared with the simulated results of MAT-LAB/Simulink. Extensive simulations were performed in MATLAB/Simulink to validate the efficacy of the proposed scheme. Mathematical results and simulation results match well which shows the validity of the Proposed scheme. The proposed scheme doesn't need any adaptive relay setting in different modes of operations i.e., grid-tied and islanding mode. The simulation results of the proposed scheme demonstrate the great potential of the proposed protection scheme both for radial and mesh scenarios and for gird connected and islanding modes. We conclude that the proposed technique is efficient and fast enough to detect, locate and classify the fault.

5.2 Future Work

It should be ensured that no extra barriers such as high costs, technical difficulties, lack of standards, etc., exist against the use of DR. The future fault detection techniques will comprise of new technologies such as Global position system, PMU, and advanced communication infrastructure. Hardware I loop is one of the best concepts for real-time implementation. It represents real-time simulators like Real-Time Digital Simulator, RT Lab, dSPACE, Hybrid Real-Time (HRTSim), etc. to build assurance on their performance and to check the advanced detection techniques. In future use of Solid-state Transformer, z-source CB, IEDs, etc., these emerging protection devices in the Microgrid integrated system will enhance the fault detection technology. To achieve the future scenario, the internet of things (IoT) can act as the next target in the vision of protective devices sending data to cloud-based functions working coordinately. It uses to provide value during big data analytics. In the future, considerable research work is needed to address the response time issue. Considering the level of the desired SNR, the validity of the measurements needs to be checked. Response time for fault detection needs more research in the future. The application of optical wireless networks and 4G networks of cellular wireless services can promise high reliability, low latency, communication optimality energy efficiency, and flexibility.

Appendix A- Publication

The following paper is published (or under publication process) from the work described in the thesis

Sequence Based Approach for Fault Diagnosis, Localization, and Classification in Microgrids

Muhammad Anwar ul Haq, Syed Basit Ali Bukhari,Sehar Shakir,Aneeque Ahmed Mir

Under review in journal of Journal of Electrical Engineering and Technology on 28^{th} Nov 2021